IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC10-680

Lower Court Case No. 90-CF-2007B

ANTON KRAWCZUK, Appellant,

v. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUZANNE MYERS KEFFER Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0150177

SCOTT GAVIN Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 0058651

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL - SOUTH 101 NE 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

No mitigating evidence was presented on Mr. Krawczuk's behalf by defense counsel and no argument was ever made, as defense counsel admitted that she had not prepared one prior to the penalty phase (R. 219). In fact, counsel did not prepare any mitigation as she failed to investigate potential mitigation entirely. Faced with a client who was depressed and had previously informed the court that he wished to waive all issues regarding the presentation of mitigating evidence, including jury sentencing (R. 398, 402), counsel did nothing to advise Mr. Krawczuk of the potential avenues of mitigation. Defense counsel merely indicated her intention to follow Mr. Krawczuk's directions, citing several cases to the court which she believed supported Mr. Krawczuk's right to waive mitigation evidence (R. 404-405) despite the fact that Mr. Krawczuk's "decision" was the result of the combined effect of defeats early on in his case, his admitted depression and anxiety and, most importantly, counsel's ineffectiveness in failing to investigate and adequately inform her client of the potential mitigation available.

The Honorable James R. Thompson, Circuit Judge, heard a motion to suppress confession on July 25, 1991, and entered an order denying the motion on August 2, 1991. (R. 274-354, 525, 544-545) Thereafter, on September 27, 1991, Mr. Krawczuk entered a guilty plea¹ and asked for imposition of the death penalty

¹ During the plea colloquy Mr. Krawczuk testified he was not forced, threatened or

 $(R. 386-424)^2$

During the plea colloquy on September 27, 1991, the Court questioned Mr. Krawczuk about his intentions regarding the penalty phase of his trial. After being advised by the prosecutor of the two phases of a murder trial, Mr. Krawczuk indicated he also wanted to waive the right to have the jury make a sentencing recommendation (R. 391-393). Counsel tersely mentioned that she had wanted to call Dr. Richard Keown³ and Jim Price as mitigation witnesses, but that she was

coerced into entering the guilty plea (R. 393). He was on medication, the antidepressant Elavil. He last took his medication at 8:00 p.m. the previous night (R. 393-394, 412-413). He had not previously suffered from or been treated for any kind of mental disorder or mental health problems (R. 395). He went to the prison psychiatrist because he grew restless as his case neared trial; he wanted a mild sedative to sleep (R. 395). It was Mr. Krawczuk's belief that the medication was not affecting him at the time of his plea (R. 412-413). The court also ascertained that Mr. Krawczuk had completed high school, served in the military for four years and worked as a maintenance person for ten years (R. 395). Mr. Krawczuk indicated he understood the constitutional rights he was waiving. (R. 335-401, 414). Additionally, Mr, Krawczuk waived all pending motions (R. 402-404, 414).

² Mr. Krawczuk previously wrote to the court on April 29, 1991 expressing his dissatisfaction with trial counsel and asking that she be dismissed (R. 522-523). The court denied the request on May 30, 1991 (R. 524). The court readdressed this issue at the time of accepting Mr. Krawczuk's plea (R. 388). At that time, Mr Krawczuk changed his position and testified that he was completely satisfied with counsel's representation (R. 388, 400-401).

³ Dr. Richard Keown, conducted a competency evaluation approximately ten months earlier. Dr. Keown's report summarized that Mr. Krawczuk then had mild depressive symptoms but medication intervention was not at that time warranted. He suffered from many feelings of insecurity and low self-esteem, caused by his father rejecting him at an early age and his mother treating him in a demanding and verbally abusive manner. He thus adopted a passive approach to life (R. 606A-

not doing so pursuant to Mr. Krawczuk's instructions (R. 405). There was no further discussion with respect to those witnesses and there is no indication in the record as to who is Jim Price. The Court made only two inquiries of Mr. Krawczuk with respect to his penalty phase intentions. First, the trial court asked him "why he [had] chosen this course of action so [the court could] make a judgment as to whether it's a reasoned decision" (R. 409). Mr. Krawczuk responded only that "[he] shouldn't be allowed to live for what [he] did" (R. 409). Second, the court asked Mr. Krawczuk if he had any previous suicide attempts, to which Mr. Krawczuk responded that he had not (R. 409). The court accepted the waiver, but ruled that it was not irrevocable (R. 416).

Trial counsel informed the court that Mr. Krawczuk's plea and request for the death penalty was against the advice of counsel and that Mr. Krawczuk instructed her not to present witnesses in mitigation (R. 404-405, 407-408). Significantly, Mr. Krawczuk's "decision" to plead guilty and waive penalty was only made after his motion to suppress and attempt to get a different lawyer were unsuccessful. In light of these defeats and his depression, Mr. Krawczuk simply gave up.

page 7). Dr. Keown found him competent to stand trial and sane at the time of the crime. Of the two defendants, Mr. Krawczuk was likely the more passive and was influenced by Poirier (R. 606A-pages 4-7).

⁴ In fact, this was not true since Mr. Krawczuk did have a previous suicide attempt.

Krawczuk's request to waive a jury's sentencing Despite Mr. recommendation, the State refused to waive the penalty phase, and the court agreed (R. 654-655). Prior to jury selection, a brief colloquy occurred where Mr. Krawczuk reiterated his desire to get the death penalty and put on no evidence in mitigation; that despite continuing to take medication for depression he did not feel he was under the influence; that he waived the right to testify on his own behalf and the right to have his attorney cross-examine witnesses and make argument (R. 695-707). The court ruled that he was sufficiently intelligent and understood the consequences of his decisions, and that he had the legal right to take the course of action he was taking (R. 706). No detailed inquiry was made of Mr. Krawczuk. The court failed to pursue any questioning to elicit any information from Mr. Krawczuk that would demonstrate his knowledge of procedural rules or substantive law, **possible mitigation**, or the nature of the penalty phase. Here, the judge had little or no information about Mr. Krawczuk and conducted only a cursory inquiry into Mr. Krawczuk's ability to waive penalty.

After the presentation of the state's case, Mr. Krawczuk indicated to the court that he was not opposed to the presentation of mitigating evidence, although he was not willing to take the stand, and did not want part of the psychiatric report written by Dr. Keown admitted (R. 218-225). Mr. Krawczuk acknowledged that without the report "there is nothing working with me, it's all against me" (R. 228).

Mr. Krawczuk's contradictory assertions caused the state to express confusion with Mr. Krawczuk's intentions regarding the presentation of mitigation (R. 224).

No indication exists in the record that Mr. Krawczuk's counsel sought any of the extensive mitigating evidence that existed; in fact, as evidenced by her own testimony at the evidentiary hearing she did not investigate any mitigation. Thus, counsel was incapable of explaining its significance to Mr. Krawczuk.

Mr. Krawczuk was never apprised by counsel of all that was available for mitigation. His trial counsel failed to conduct any mitigation investigation, hence, Mr. Krawczuk was never even informed of what might have been presented in his defense for penalty considerations. What is clear from the record is that Mr. Krawczuk was not completely opposed to the presentation of mitigation (R. 218-225), although he did not want to testify and he did not want all of Dr. Keown's report admitted (R. 222). Had counsel done the job she was constitutionally required to do, a wealth of mitigation was available that Mr. Krawczuk would not have opposed.

Against this backdrop and after hearing testimony and argument presented only by the state (R. 201-269), the jury recommended death by a vote of 12-0 (R. 268-263, 584). On February 13, 1992, the circuit court followed the jury's recommendation imposing a sentence of death for first-degree murder, and imposing a sentence of 15 years in prison for robbery (R. 436, 438, 587-594, 536-

601). The court found the following aggravating factors: (1) the crime as committed in the course of a robbery or for pecuniary gain, which the court merged and considered as one factor; (2) the crime was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel; (3) the crime was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner with no pretense of moral or legal justification (R. 434-435, 587-594). The court found one statutory mitigating factor, the lack of a significant history of prior criminal activity (R. 435, 557 594) and no non-statutory mitigating factors (R. 435, 587-594, 606A, 606B).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court of the Twentieth Judicial Circuit, Lee County, entered the judgments of conviction and sentence under consideration.

Mr. Krawczuk and his codefendant William Poirier were charged by indictment dated October 3, 1990, first degree murder and related offenses (R. 445-446).

Mr. Krawczuk entered a plea of guilty to one count first degree murder, one count felony murder, and one count robbery on September 27, 1991 (R. 388-416).

On February 5, 1992, the jury recommended a death sentence for the first degree murder conviction (R. 286).

On February 13, 1992, the trial court imposed a sentence of death on the count of first-degree murder (R. 434-436). A sentencing order was entered on that

date (R. 596-601).

On May 22, 1992, Mr. Krawczuk's codefendant, William Poirier, plead guilty to second degree murder before a different judge and received a sentence of 35 years on the murder charge to run concurrent with a 15 year sentence for robbery (PCR. 2359-62).⁵

The Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Krawczuk's convictions and sentences on direct appeal. *Krawczuk v. State*, 634 So. 2d 1070 (Fla. 1994); *cert. denied* 115 S. Ct. 216 (1994).

Following this Court's affirmance of Mr. Krawczuk's conviction and sentences, Mr. Krawczuk filed his initial Motion to Vacate Judgment of Convictions and Sentences With Special Request for Leave to Amend in the Circuit Court for the Twentieth Judicial Circuit on October 11, 1995 (PC-R. 3-148). On March 15, 2002, after extensive public records litigation, Mr. Krawczuk filed an Amended Motion to Vacate Judgment of Convictions and Sentences With Special Request for Leave to Amend (PCR. Supp Vol. 1, 19-126).

The circuit court conducted a *Huff* hearing on August 21, 2002 (PCR.1336-1363). On June 30, 2003, the circuit court entered an order granting an evidentiary hearing for all claims alleging ineffective assistance of counsel and/or requiring

⁵ At the time of Mr. Krawczuk's evidentiary hearing, Mr. Poirier was scheduled to be released from prison on July 6, 2005 pending gain time award, forfeiture or review (PCR. 2363).

factual development⁶ and reserved ruling on purely legal claims which it determined not to require evidentiary development⁷ (PCR. 1398-1403).

On January 20 and 21, 2004 and March 8, 2004, an evidentiary hearing was held. Mr. Krawczuk presented testimony including that of Mr. Krawczuk's trial attorney, Barbara LeGrande, Mr. Krawczuk's twin brother, step-father and mother, a childhood friend and his ex-wife, as well as two mental health experts.

Barbara LeGrande, Anton Krawczuk's trial attorney, recalled that Anton wanted only the Judge to determine his sentence and he informed her he did not want her to present anything in mitigation (PCR. 1778). Anton's request to waive a jury was denied (PCR. 1777-78). Based on Ms. LeGrande's understanding of the case law at the time, she felt Anton was entitled to make that decision (Id.). Ms. LeGrande acknowledged that she had not followed the same procedure as was conducted in *Anderson v. State*, 574 So. 2d 87 (Fla. 1991). She testified that she did not put on the record the witnesses or experts she would have called to testify at the penalty phase (PCR. 1780). Ms. LeGrande stated:

That's correct. And I did not – I did not put that on the record at all. And, in truth, there was not that much that I had done yet to be able to talk to Anton about at that time.

⁶ Claims II, III, V, VI, VII, XI, XIII, XV and XX.

(Id.). Ms. LeGrande could only say that she spoke with Anton's family members very briefly (PCR. 1781). In fact, her time records reflected that she only spoke to Anton's mother and grandmother for a maximum of six minutes each and she had no recollection of the content of those conversations (Id.).

Ms. LeGrande did not hire any experts for the purpose of developing mitigation experts and did not try to find any witnesses (PCR. 1782). Ms. LeGrande indicated that she filed a motion to have an expert assist with mitigation, but once Anton pled guilty she did not follow through with it (Id.). Ms. LeGrande believed that once [Anton] was no longer wanting [her] to defend the mitigation," she "in good faith, could not represent to the Court that [she] needed a mitigation expert" (PCR. 1815-16).

Despite the fact that Ms. LeGrande thought Anton and his codefendant, Poirier, were equally culpable (PCR. 1791), Ms. LeGrande also did not discuss with Anton the issue of presenting the culpability of his codefendant (PCR. 1789). The only conversations they had involved the possibility of Anton taking the stand to testify to Poirier's influence over him (Id.).

Ms. LeGrande agreed that she could not explain to Anton the details of what may have been presented on his behalf because she had not investigated (PCR. 1786). Ms. LeGrande was only able to explain to him superficially what it meant to present mitigation (PCR. 1786-87). Ms. LeGrande explained that she would have

told him "the concepts," not what she actually would have been doing (PCR. 1787). Ms. LeGrande repeated that she did not pursue any mitigation investigation and did not confer with Anton regarding any specific mitigation that could be presented (PCR. 1829, 1832).

Christopher Krawczuk, Anton's fraternal twin brother, testified at the evidentiary hearing that he and Anton had three brothers, one older and two younger (PCR. 1515). Anton and Christopher's biological father was Jon Clifford Krawczuk, whom they only met once because he believes his father left the family before the twins were born or shortly thereafter (PCR. 1516). Christopher described his father, from the stories he heard, as being a heavy drinker and very violent towards his mother including beating her when she was pregnant with Anton and himself (Id.).

Christopher's earliest memories were of living in a one-bedroom flat in the Bronx, New York with his mother Patricia, oldest brother Jon and Anton (PCR. 1517-18). Christopher recalled holes in mattresses and cockroaches; his mother was working at night as a barmaid, she was angry a lot and would "fly off the handle about a lot of different things" (PCR. 1518). Christopher described her violence as "commonplace" (PCR. 1519). Christopher recalled an incident when he was either two or three years old when his mother grabbed him in anger, threw him across the floor and his chin hit a fire truck. This resulted in a trip to the

hospital and his mother asking him not to tell anyone what had happened (PCR. 1518-19). According to Christopher, Anton took the brunt of his mother's rage (PCR. 1520). When Anton was five or six years old, his mother put his head through a plaster wall (Id.).

Christopher emotionally described many violet incidents. On "cleaning days," their mother was particularly violent, hitting them with the metal wand of the vacuum cleaner or making them stand in the corner for hours (PCR. 1520). Christopher emotionally recalled staring at the cracks in the wall while his mother went after Anton because she didn't want to hear him screaming and crying (Id.). Christopher did not know why Anton took the brunt of his mother's violence, but he stated that she was always persistent and more frequent in beating Anton, whereas when he or Jon got "smacked," "it would stop at some point" (PCR. 1521). Anton's mother would hit him with her fist or with her open hand about the head and face (PCR. 1531). Her abuse was daily and the kids would wonder to themselves "which Patricia is going to be there that day?" (Id.). Christopher explained that they were always looking over their shoulders because they never knew what would set their mother off (Id.).

According to Christopher, Anton wet his bed at a very early age. The more Anton's bed wetting persisted, the more violent his mother reacted to it (PCR. 1522). If he soiled his pants, she made Anton wear it on his head. On one occasion

Anton's mother made him wear a poster board which read "I do my doodie in my pants every day" and walk back and forth in front of their apartment building (Id.). Punishment for playing with matches at a very early age was holding Anton's hand over a gas stove burner, and Christopher's as well for watching him (PCR. 1523).

Christopher stated that he and Anton were on their own as children (PCR. 1523). In the winter time in New York, they did not have gloves (PCR. 1524). When Anton cut his hand on a parking meter trying to prevent himself from slipping on the ice as they were walking to school, it was Anton's fault according to his mother (Id.). The refrigerator was often empty and he recalls eating a lot of spaghetti (PCR. 1525). When their mother began working days, the boys were taking care of themselves as early as first grade (Id.).

Christopher explained that when his mother married Santo Calabro, he felt relieved to some extent because there was more stability in their lives, but it did not prevent his mother's persistent violence (PCR. 1526). Instead, she simply was more careful not to act this way in front of other people (Id.). Their mother's verbal and mental abuse continued, telling them they were no good, cursing at them, telling them "to leave her the hell alone" and "swing[ing]" at them for trying to wake her (Id.). Christopher stated that he loved going to school because his mother quit her job to be a homemaker when she was married to Santo.

While Patricia and Santo were married, they moved the family to Wappinger Falls, New York (PCR. 1537). Christopher and Anton became friends with Todd Kasse, another neighborhood boy (PCR. 1537; 1575). Because Anton and Christopher were not allowed to have friends at their house, they would take turns going to Todd's house without telling their mother. On one occasion, Christopher was punched in the mouth by his mother because Anton was at Todd's house when she got home from work (Id.). On another occasion, the boys had to hide Todd in their closet when their mother came home out of fear of what she would do if she found one of their friends at the house (PCR. 1539).

Todd Kasse testified that the few times he did visit Anton at his house he had to hide when their mother came home because he knew they were not allowed to have friends visit (PCR. 1576-77). Todd recalled hiding in the closet, listening to Patricia screaming, swearing and name calling at both Anton and Christopher. Although he was in the closet and did not want to get caught, Todd was able to see Patricia punching both boys with a closed fist (PCR. 1578). He thought she was yelling because the house was messy, but was unsure (Id.). Todd described himself as being very scared and nervous (Id.).

After five years of marriage the tension grew between Santo and Patricia. They were both violent with each other and Santo eventually had enough and left (PCR. 1533). When Santo left, life got worse for Anton and his brothers. Patricia

had to get a second job to support the household. Although Christopher and Anton were only 11 or 12 years old themselves, they were responsible for "raising their younger brothers" (PCR. 1534, 1536). Anton continued to be Patricia's "whipping post" taking the brunt of all her anger (PCR. 1536). Christopher never discussed their childhood with Anton's trial counsel because she never actually contacted him (PCR. 1550, 1553). Christopher would have been willing and available to testify as needed had he been contacted (Id.).

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