IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTON KRAWCZUK,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-680 L.T. No. 90-2007 CF-B DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEE COUNTY, FLORIDA

/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 14087 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 Stephen.Ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

d. Circumstances developed during evidentiary hearing further supporting assessment of culpability.

1. Deposition of Gary Siegelmier, HDX-1. Page 12, Tony (Mr. Krawczuk) was, in his opinion, the more aggressive of the two. 2. Judith Lynn Nelson, PH, March 8, 2004 session. Mr. Krawczuk's ex-wife. EH, March 8, 2004 session, Page 11. Referring to Mr. Poirier. I called him his protégé, because he was always kind of emulating anything Anton did.

3. In "Other Matters", ¶2 of the sentencing order, RA 587-593, the court addressed the relative culpability of the codefendants in the process of commenting on the psychiatrist's report as follows: (The court at the time did not have foreknowledge that the codefendant would later plead to a lesser offense)

Consideration of 2. the statements in the psychiatrist report relevant to this defendant being the more passive of the two defendants and his being influenced by the codefendant. The court does not find this to be so to any degree that would justify consideration as a mitigating circumstance. The psychiatrist, himself, was of the opinion that the defendant was over stating this; however, beyond that the defendant's confession establishes who that it was he scouted the site to dispose of the body, made the arrangements with the victim to go to his initiated attack, physically house, the strangled the victim with the codefendant's assistance, placed drain cleaner in the victim's mouth and steadied the codefendant when he was on the point of becoming sick. RA 592.

4. In the direct appeal, <u>Krawczuk v. State</u>, 634 So.2d 1070 (Fla. 1994), the appellate court included the following statements:

Krawczuk at 1072. At the final hearing the court sentenced Krawczuk to death, finding three aggravators and one statutory mitigator.FN2

FN2. Poirier pled guilty to second-degree murder and robbery in exchange for a 35-year sentence.

Krawczuk at 1074, 1075. The court, however, carefully considered the psychiatrists report and the presentence investigation report FN4 and

found that the record did not Support the establishment of any nonstatutory mitigators.FN5

FN4. Orally the judge stated that, in addition to these items, he considered "anything else I have been able to discern from these proceedings."

FN5. The court found no disparate treatment between Krawczuk Poirier, noting and that Krawczuk "scouted the site to dispose [of] the body, made the arrangements with the victim to go to his house, physically strangled the victim with the co-defendant's assistance, placed the drain cleaner in the victim's mouth and steadied the co-defendant when he was on the point of becoming sick" and that the psychiatrist thought Krawczuk was overstating when he said he had been influenced by Poirier. Additionally, Krawczuk was older and bigger than Poirier.

This court notes the following from these portions of the opinion. FN2 is possibly not accurate. Poirier's plea occurred after Mr. Krawczuk's sentence and notice of appeal. The statutory mitigation found by the court significant was "no history of prior criminal activity", 590. However, this indicate RA does appellate counsel brought this circumstance, codefendant's plea, to the court's attention and that court considered and approved the fact the trial court did not find a non-statutory mitigator of disparate sentencing in FN5.

(PCR21:2479-84).

As the lower court properly found, Appellant's claim is procedurally barred and without merit. Codefendant Poirier's plea to second degree murder and his 35-year prison sentence, which was brought to this Court's attention on direct appeal, is irrelevant to any disparate treatment or proportionality analysis as a matter of law. Furthermore, because there is substantial, competent evidence to support the court's factual finding that Krawczuk was the more culpable of the two men, Appellant's claim is without merit and should be denied.

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S CLAIM THAT TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO PROPERLY LITIGATE THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

fourth claim, Appellant asserts that his trial In his counsel was ineffective for failing to properly litigate the voluntariness of his confession because she allegedly failed to investigate and present evidence of Krawczuk's mental state when she unsuccessfully argued the motion to suppress. In his brief, collateral counsel repeats the same arguments urged by appellate counsel on direct appeal regarding the trial court's ruling on allegation the motion, and adds the that Appellant's compulsiveness rendered his statements involuntary. The postconviction court rejected the instant claim and found that Appellant had "neither alleged nor testified that if counsel had not rendered the alleged ineffective assistance pled in his postconviction motion he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial," and also found that the claim was procedurally barred and without merit. (PCR21:2484, 2502).

At the outset, the trial court properly found that Appellant's allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel were insufficient because Krawczuk did not allege, much less establish, that he would not have pled guilty had trial counsel performed differently. <u>See generally Hill v. Lockhart</u>, 474 U.S.

52, 106 S. Ct. 366 (1985); Zakrzewski v. State, 866 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 2003); Grosvenor v. State, 874 So. 2d 1176 (Fla. 2004). In Zakrzewski, the defendant alleged that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a motion to suppress, and unlike Krawczuk, alleged in his postconviction motion that he would not have accepted trial counsel's advice to plead guilty had trial counsel informed him of his right to challenge the search of his Zakrzewski, 866 So. 2d at 694. This Court rejected the home. defendant's ineffectiveness argument because he failed to show deficient performance and, "[a]lthough Zakrzewski alleged prejudice in his motion; i.e., that he would not have pled guilty, there was no evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing to establish this allegation and no reason to assume that had the motion been denied, Zakrzewski would not have still pled guilty, reserving the right to appeal." Id. at 695.

In the instant case, as the trial court properly found, Appellant did not even allege prejudice in his postconviction motion. <u>See PCR Suppl:79-84</u>. Additionally, Krawczuk did not testify at the evidentiary hearing that he would not have pled guilty had trial counsel performed differently. Furthermore, Krawczuk pled guilty without reserving his right to appeal the trial court's ruling on his motion to suppress. <u>See Krawczuk</u>, 634 So. 2d 1070 (Fla. 1994) (noting that the trial court's

ruling on the motion to suppress was not cognizable on appeal because Krawczuk pled guilty and waived his right to appeal any pre-trial rulings). Thus, following <u>Zakrzewski</u>, this Court must affirm the lower court's denial of this claim due to Appellant's failure to allege or establish prejudice.

Additionally, the State would note that the trial court properly rejected this claim because it is procedurally barred and without merit. To the extent that collateral counsel challenges that trial court's ruling on the motion to suppress, this claim is procedurally barred as it was raised and rejected by this Court on direct appeal. See Krawczuk, 634 So. 2d at 1072-73. On direct appeal, this Court found that Appellant had failed to preserve this claim based on his guilty plea, and further found that, even if preserved, his claim was meritless law enforcement officers had probable cause to arrest as Krawczuk when they went to his residence and his confession was made after receiving and waiving his Miranda rights. Id.

trial Collateral counsel's claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate his mental health and compulsiveness rendered his confession arquing that his involuntary is also without merit. The postconviction court correctly found that the lay witness and mental health testimony from the evidentiary hearing did not support collateral

counsel's claim that Krawczuk's statements were involuntary. As the court noted, the only relevant evidence to this claim was Sultan, who opined that presented by Dr. Appellant was compulsive and felt the need to talk to law enforcement officers about the details of the murder despite it being against his best interest. The court properly noted, however, that Dr. Sultan did not testify that Appellant's condition prevented him from understanding his Miranda rights. Dr. Sultan acknowledged that she was "not prepared to offer an opinion about exactly how voluntary" Appellant's statements were. (PCR18:1727-28). Additionally, the lower court noted that there was no information in the two mental health experts' reports from 1991 and 1992 that would support a finding that Appellant was incapable of understanding his Miranda rights or that those rights were unknowingly or unintelligently waived by him.¹⁷

 $^{^{\}rm 17}$ Notably, Dr. Keown, who examined Appellant months before trial counsel filed and litigated the motion to suppress, performed the same psychological testing as done by Dr. Sultan, namely the Dr. Sultan claimed, without elaboration, that the MMPI-2. results of the MMPI-2 were "marginally acceptable" and Appellant's personality characteristics. underlined some of Dr. Keown administered the same MMPI-2 and found (PCR18:1694). that Appellant "responded in an extremely exaggerated manner, endorsing a wide variety of inconsistent symptoms and attitudes," and these results most likely reflected Appellant's "desire to look as bad as he could in the hope this might help him legally." (PCR19B:2203).

Another mental health expert, Dr. Robert Wald, examined Appellant in 1992, shortly after his sentence, based on a motion

Because the evidence from the evidentiary hearing supports the trial court's finding that this claim is procedurally barred and without merit, this Court should affirm the trial court's ruling.

by the codefendant's attorney in anticipation of the possibility of Krawczuk testifying against Poirier. (PCR19:1849-51).

ISSUE V

THE POSTCONVICTION COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S ALLEGATION OF INNEFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF PENALTY PHASE COUNSEL BASED ON COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO OBJECT TO COMMENTS MADE BY THE PROSECUTOR AND FOR FAILING TO REQUEST A JURY INSTRUCTION ON MERCY.

Appellant combines several of his postconviction issues and asserts that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to improper comments made by the prosecutor at the penalty phase and for failing to request a jury instruction on mercy. The lower court denied these allegations in a detailed order. (PCR21:2436-60, 2496-502, 2526-28). The State submits that the lower court properly denied these claims because Appellant failed to establish deficient performance and prejudice as required by <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984).

In addressing Appellant's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's argument and for failing to object to the court's jury instructions or request an instruction on mercy, the lower court stated:

This Claim is closely related to and duplicates to some degree Claim XXI, AM page 95, alleging prosecutorial argument and inadequate jury instructions misled the jury regarding its ability to exercise mercy. The court's discussion of that claim should be considered together with its discussion of this claim.

The court is informed on the applicable law by the opinions in <u>Anderson v. State</u>, 18 So.3d 501, (Fla.

2009); Bailey v. State, 998 So.2d 545 (Fla. 2008); Cox v. State, 819 So.2d 705 (Fla. 2002); Frangui v. State, 804 So.2d 1185 (Fla. 2001); Garron v. State, 528 So.2d 353 (Fla. 1988); California v. Brown, 479 U.S. 538, 107 S.Ct. 837 (1987); Saffle v. Parks, 494 U.S. 484 (1990). It is also noteworthy that the Florida Supreme Court has recently approved for publication updated jury instructions in death penalty cases that include virtually the same anti sympathy instruction. SC05-960 - In Re: Standard Jury Instructions In Criminal Cases - Report No. 2005-2 at page 27, Opinion released October 29, 2009 and that the instructions given in this case are close to those updated instructions.

Counsel has pled this claim in a manner to combine a number of issues.

The first issue results from the prosecutor's suggestion on multiple occasions both during voir dire and final argument that the law required the jury to recommend the death penalty if the aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigating circumstances. RA 772, RA 233. The law does not require a jury to recommend the death penalty and these statements were error. See, <u>Anderson</u>, supra, <u>Cox</u>, supra. However, the court will not grant relief on this issue for the following reasons:

The error is procedurally barred because a. counsel failed to object and it was not raised on appeal. The court correctly instructed the jury of its role under Florida law and considering the instructions and the comments the error is not. fundamental. See Cox, supra, at 717,718. Additionally Mr. Krawczuk barred his counsel from participating in the penalty phase and thus cannot claim counsel was ineffective in failing to object.

b. The error is harmless beyond any reasonable doubt and to the extent this is a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel Mr. Krawczuk has not shown prejudice. Mr. Krawczuk did not present mitigation and barred his attorney from participating in the penalty phase. See extensive discussion of harmless error and lack of prejudice at beginning of this order.

The second issue results from the prosecutor's suggestion on multiple occasions that the jury should decide the case without regard for sympathy and from the court's giving as part of the final instructions Instruction 3.10, #8, Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases. "feelings of prejudice bias or sympathy are not legally reasonable doubts and they should not be discussed by any of you in any way. Your verdict must be based on your views of the evidence the law contained in these and on instructions." RA 255. This issue is the subject of Claim XXI, AM page 95, and the discussion under that claim is referenced. However, to repeat the court will not grant relief on this issue for the following reasons:

a. Any error is procedurally barred because counsel failed to object, RA 218, and it was not raised on appeal. Any error does not rise to the level of fundamental error. Counsel was not ineffective in failing to make objections when Mr. Krawczuk directed her not to participate in the penalty phase proceedings or offer mitigation.

b. Any error is harmless beyond any reasonable doubt and to the extent this is a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel Mr. Krawczuk has not shown prejudice. Mr. Krawczuk did not present mitigation and barred his attorney from participating in the penalty phase. See extensive discussion of harmless error and lack of prejudice at beginning of this order.

There is error. Similar anti sympathy no с. instructions have been approved by the United States Supreme Court. See California v. Brown, 479 U.S. 538, 107 S.Ct. 837 (1987) and Saffle v. Parks, 494 U.S. 484 (1990). The principal objection to an anti-sympathy instruction is that it interferes with the jury's consideration of the mitigating evidence, specifically non statutory mitigating circumstances. In this case noted there was no mitigating evidence to be as interfered with. This same circumstance supports a finding of no error in the states comments or that at worst that any error is only harmless error.

It is also noteworthy that the Florida Supreme Court has recently approved for publication updated jury instructions in death penalty cases that include with slight modification virtually the same anti sympathy instruction. <u>SCO5-960 - In Re: Standard Jury</u> <u>Instructions In Criminal Cases - Report No. 2005-2 at</u> page 27, Opinion released October 29, 2009.

A third group of issue arises out of multiple allegations in paragraph 5, page 60- 61 of AM.

As to claim of cumulative error the court notes that the errors subject to this claim are procedurally and therefore not to be included barred in а cumulative error analysis. Additionally as explained in the court's harmless error and lack of prejudice discussion at the beginning given the lack of mitigation and number and weight of the aggravators any errors in this part of the proceedings, both individually and cumulatively are harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

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